RECEIVED

Jun 27 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Maite Murphy

Appellate Case No.: 2023-001762

Andrey Gergel and Sonja M. Wyatt. Respondents,

v.

Alexander Opoulous, III, Tina B. Opoulous, Sebrina Leigh Jones and Luxury Land and Homes,
Inc. Defendants,

Of whom Tina B. Opoulous is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Stephan V. Futeral
SC Bar ID 66427
534 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 202
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 284-5500 Phone (843) 284-5501 Fax
sfuteral@charlestonlaw.net
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT WHERE THE LOWER COURT, THE CLERK OF COURT, AND RESPONDENTS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH MANDATORY MEDIATION BEFORE TRIAL?
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT WHERE APPELLANTS' MOTION WAS TIMELY, APPELLANTS HAD A MERITORIOUS DEFENSE, AND THE PREJUDICE TO OUR JUDICIAL SYSTEM OUTWEIGHS ANY PREJUDICE TO RESPONDENTS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 3, 2017, Respondents filed an action for damages alleging that Appellants, realtor Sebrina Leigh Jones, and real estate agency Luxury Land and Homes, Inc. failed to comply with the Residential Property Condition Disclosure Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-50-10 *et seq.* [R. pp. 50 – 60] On March 2, 2018, the lower court issued a scheduling order wherein the parties were ordered to mediate this action on or before June 29, 2018. [R. pp. 3 – 9] Instead of participating in mediation, on July 30, 2018, the parties entered into a Consent Order removing this case from the active trial roster pursuant to Rule 40(J), SCRCP. [R. pp. 10 – 15]

On March 27, 2019, Respondents filed a Motion to Restore this case to the active roster. [R. p. 100] On April 15, 2019, a Consent Order was filed relieving Appellants' legal counsel. [R. pp. 16 – 20] Thereafter, Appellants proceeded *pro se*. The lower court restored this matter pursuant to Rule 40(J) on May 30, 2019. [R. p. 24 – 26]

On April 7, 2022, Respondents stipulated to dismiss the realtor Sebrina Leigh Jones.¹ [R. pp. 36 – 37] Although the parties never participated in mandatory mediation, this case was tried

¹ Respondents did not dismiss the real estate brokerage, Luxury Land and Homes, Inc. However, Respondents appear to have abandoned their claims against this party at trial, and the lower court entered judgment solely against Appellants.

on April 11, 2022 [R. pp. 334 – 496]. Thereafter, on May 6, 2022, the lower court filed a Form 4 Order entering judgment for Respondents in the amount of \$196,000.00 in actual damages and awarded attorney’s fees and costs of \$21,382.95 for a total judgment of \$217,382.95. [R. pp. 38 – 40]

On May 31, 2022, Appellants filed a Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCF on the grounds that trial was conducted without the parties participating in mandatory mediation. [R. pp. 108 – 116] On June 8, 2022, Appellants filed a Motion to Stay Execution of Judgment Pursuant to Rule 62(b), SCRCF. [R. pp. 117 – 118] On June 13, 2022, Respondents filed a memorandum in opposition to Appellants’ Rule 60 Motion. [R. pp. 119 – 122]

Approximately one year after Appellants filed their motions, and after several requests to schedule a hearing on Appellants’ motions, on October 18, 2023, the lower court issued a Form 4 Order denying Appellants’ motions without a hearing. [R. pp. 47 – 49] Thereafter, on November 8, 2023, Appellants² filed and served this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision whether to set aside a judgment lies within the lower court’s discretion which will not be reversed on an appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr, 358 S.C. 10, 594 S.E.2d 478 (2004). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision is controlled by some error of law or is based on findings of fact that are without evidentiary support.” Degenhart v. Burriss, 360 S.C. 497, 500, 602 S.E.2d 96, 97 (Ct. App. 2004).

FACTS

² While waiting approximately a year for the lower court to schedule Appellants’ motions, Appellant Alexander Opoulous, III passed away on October 12, 2023.

Respondents entered into an Agreement to Buy and Sell Real Estate (the "Contract") with Appellants. [R. pp. 229 – 234, 405 – 406, 434] Appellants provided to Respondents a South Carolina Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement wherein Appellants represented that they did not know about any problems, malfunctions, or defects regarding the property including moisture under the home. [R. pp. 235, 434] Prior to closing, Respondents obtained a comprehensive inspection report regarding the property's condition. [R. pp. 131 – 202, 417 – 418] Respondents' inspection report revealed problems regarding moisture under the home. [R. p. 419] Additionally, sump pumps were openly visible to inspection in the property's crawl space. [R. p. 360] Moreover, a cavity caused by water intrusion was openly visible to inspection. [R. p. 369]

ARGUMENTS

I. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT WHERE THE LOWER COURT, THE CLERK OF COURT, AND RESPONDENTS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH MANDATORY MEDIATION BEFORE TRIAL.

In South Carolina, “[a]ll civil actions filed in the circuit court . . . are subject to court-ordered mediation” Rule 3(a), SCRADR. Parties who file a civil action in South Carolina’s circuit courts are reminded of mandatory mediation in no uncertain terms. Specifically, as set forth in the civil action cover sheet in this case and others like it, “SUPREME COURT RULES REQUIRE THE SUBMISSION OF ALL CIVIL CASES TO AN ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS, UNLESS OTHERWISE EXEMPT.” [R. pp. 59 – 60]

Under our ADR rules, “[i]n circuit court cases subject to ADR in which no Proof of ADR has been filed on the 210th day after the filing of the action, the Clerk of Court shall appoint a primary mediator and a secondary mediator” Rule 4(c), SCRADR (emphasis added). Rule 6(a), SCRADR provides that, “[i]n cases subject to ADR under these rules, all attorneys should

fairly and objectively inform their clients about mediation” Rule 4(c), SCRADR requires that “if the parties have not agreed to the selection of an alternative mediator, the plaintiff or the plaintiff’s attorney shall immediately file with the Clerk of Court a written notice advising the court of this fact and requesting the appointment of two more mediators.” (emphasis added).

Here, there is no dispute that: (1) this case was subject to mandatory mediation; (2) the Clerk of Court failed to appoint a primary and secondary mediator pursuant to Rule 4(c); (3) Respondents and their counsel failed to notify the court that no mediator was agreed upon by the parties pursuant to Rule 4(c); and (4) the lower court allowed the parties to try this case without mandatory mediation. In other words, despite the safeguards under our ADR rules to guarantee that the parties participated in mandatory mediation, the lower court still failed to ensure mediation before trial.

II. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANTS’ MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT WHERE THE APPELLANTS’ MOTION WAS TIMELY, APPELLANTS HAD A MERITORIOUS DEFENSE, AND THE PREJUDICE TO OUR JUDICIAL SYSTEM OUTWEIGHED ANY PREJUDICE TO RESPONDENTS.

Because of the lower court’s failings described herein, Appellants filed a motion seeking relief from the judgment. Rule 60(b)(1), SCRCP provides that “[o]n motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for . . . [m]istake [or] inadvertence” Rule 60(b) further provides that the motion be made within a “reasonable time” but not greater than one year.

When determining whether to grant relief under Rule 60(b)(1), the lower court must consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the party requesting relief has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the opposing party if relief is granted. Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 381 S.E.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1989). Regarding

a meritorious defense, the moving party does not have to show they would prevail on the merits. Instead, a meritorious defense “need be only one which is worthy of a hearing or judicial inquiry because it raises a question of law deserving of some investigation and discussion or a real controversy as to real facts arising from conflicting or doubtful evidence.” McClurg v. Deaton, 380 S.C. 563, 575, 671 S.E.2d 87, 94 (Ct. App. 2008) (quotations and citations omitted).

Here, the lower court abused its discretion when it denied Appellants’ motion because the lower court’s ruling was based on errors of law. Specifically, the lower court failed to analyze Appellants’ motion according to the factors outlined in Wham. Instead, the lower court denied Appellants’ Rule 60 Motion by holding that it would not impose sanctions upon Respondents under Rule 10(b), SCRADR.³ [Form 4 Order Denying Motions filed October 18, 2023]

Regarding the Wham factors, Appellants filed their motion within a reasonable time and have a meritorious defense. Also, any prejudice to Respondents is far outweighed by the prejudice to South Carolina’s justice system if our lower courts are permitted to disregard our Supreme Court’s orders and mandatory procedural rules.

First, regarding timing, Appellants made their Rule 60 Motion less than thirty days after the judgment. Therefore, Appellants did not delay in making their motion.

Second, regarding a meritorious defense, Respondents had no right to rely on Appellants’ disclosure statement, and the lower court should have dismissed Respondents’ claims as a matter of law. The facts of the present case are strikingly like those in McLaughlin v. Williams, 379 S.C. 451, 665 S.E.2d 667 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008). In McLaughlin, the seller failed to answer questions on the Disclosure Statement concerning water intrusion in a crawlspace. Before closing, the buyer’s home inspection uncovered water issues in the crawl space, but the buyer closed anyway.

³ Notably, Appellants did not make a motion for sanctions under Rule 10(b), SCRADR.

Weeks later, the buyer sued the seller for not disclosing the water intrusion issues. South Carolina's Supreme Court upheld the lower court's dismissal of the buyer's claims because the buyer had no right to rely on the Disclosure Statement where the buyer's inspections showed there were undisclosed damages. Id. Moreover, our Supreme Court held that even if the damage shown on the inspection was not in the exact location of the damage at issue, it would not matter because the buyer was on notice. Id.

Here, Respondents knew before purchasing the property, vis-à-vis their inspection report, that there was fallen insulation, fallen ductwork, and rusted ductwork under the home. [Trial Transcript dated April 11, 2022, p. 85] Additionally, Respondents knew there were moisture problems under the home. [Trial Transcript dated April 11, 2022, p. 86] Accordingly, under McLaughlin, Appellants had a meritorious defense that Respondents had no right to rely on the Disclosure Statement.

Third, regarding the degree of prejudice to Respondents, Appellants reiterate that Respondents and their counsel bear responsibility for the failure to mediate before trial. Regardless, any prejudice to Respondents is far outweighed by the potential harm to our judicial process. South Carolina's commitment to mandatory mediation before trial in civil cases is not merely a procedural formality; it is a critical mechanism designed to facilitate the resolution of disputes in an efficient, equitable, and expeditious manner.

Mandatory mediation serves two important purposes. First, mandatory mediation embodies our judiciary's recognition that litigation is not always the most effective means of dispute resolution. By compelling parties to engage in mediation, South Carolina's civil justice system encourages the exploration of mutually beneficial solutions, thereby saving time, money, and court

resources. Second, mediation offers a forum for parties to communicate directly and confidentially, thereby fostering a sense of agency in resolving their dispute.

Here, the lower court's failure to ensure mediation deprived Appellants of the opportunity to resolve their dispute before trial. Moreover, the lower court's failure to ensure mediation creates the public perception that our courts may selectively disregard mandatory procedural requirements. Ultimately, if this Court allows the judgment to stand in this case, then this Court risks the erosion of public confidence in the fairness and integrity of our legal process. Such erosion of the public's trust in our civil justice system outweighs any prejudice to Respondents.

CONCLUSION

The lower court erred in denying Appellants' Rule 60 Motion where: (1) the lower court failed to ensure mandatory mediation before trial; (2) Appellants' motion was timely; (3) Appellants had a meritorious defense; and (4) any prejudice to Respondents is outweighed by the prejudice to South Carolina's justice system if our lower courts are permitted to disregard mandatory procedural requirements. Accordingly, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the lower court's order and relieve Appellants from the judgment in this case.

RECEIVED

Jun 27 2024

SC Court of Appeals

RULE 211 CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certifies that the final brief complies with Rule 211(b), SCACR.