RECEIVED

Jul 25 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Maite Murphy

Case No. 2019-CP-18-00980
Appellate Case No. 2023-001762

Andrey Gergel and Sonjay M. Wyatt,.....Respondents,

v.

Alexander Opoulous, III, Tina B. Opoulous, Sebrina Leigh Jones, and Luxury Land and Homes,
Inc, Defendants,

Of Whom Tina B. Opoulous is the.....Appellant.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

G. Hamlin O'Kelley, III
Buist, Byars & Taylor, LLC
652 Coleman Blvd., Suite 200
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
T: (843) 856-4488
F: (843) 856-0613
Hamlin.okelley@buistbyars.com
Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. THE APPELLANT IN THIS CASE SEEKS TO PUT FORM OVER SUBSTANCE AND HAVE THIS COURT OVERTURN A WELL-DELIBERATED JURY VERDICT AS RETURNED ON APRIL 12, 2022, IN ST. GEORGE, ENTERED BY THIS COURT ON MAY 6, 2022, BY APPEALING AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE ORIGINAL JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THIS CASE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before this Court on the appeal of Tina B. Opoulous, for herself and her late husband's estate, appealing the Order of the Honorable Maite Murphy dated October 18, 2023, denying her Motion to Reconsider. (ROA 47)

The original judgment in the matter was entered on May 6, 2022. (ROA 38) In that Order, the Court affirmed a jury verdict in favor of the Respondents, Andrey Gergel and Sonja M. Wyatt, (the "Plaintiffs"), in the amount of \$196,000 in actual damages. *Idi.* Attorneys' fees and costs were also awarded in the amount of \$21,382.95 pursuant to the statutory cause of action for failure to disclose on the South Carolian Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement, bringing the total judgment to \$217,382.95. (ROA 235)

This case commenced with the filing of a Summons and Complaint on April 3, 2017. (ROA 50). In their Complaint, the Respondents asserted causes of action for negligent misrepresentation, civil liability pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §27-50-65 and S.C. Code Ann. §27-50-70 for failure to disclose defects on the South Carolian Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement, and fraud and fraud in the inducement. *Id.* The Respondents also sought their attorneys' fees pursuant to those statutory provisions. *Id.* (ROA 235)

The Defendants, Alexander Opoulous and Tina Opoulous, (the "Defendants"), who were residents of the County of Dorchester, in the State of South Carolina, filed an answer on May 3, 2017 (ROA 61).

The Defendant, Sebrina Leigh Jones was dismissed in the matter on April 21, 2017 (ROA 2).

The Defendant, Luxury Land and Homes, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, (the “Defendant Luxury Land”), which filed its answer on January 16, 2018 (ROA 87).

The Plaintiffs’ First Requests to Admit were served on the Appellants on May 11, 2017 and answered by the Appellants on June 6, 2017. (ROA 62) (ROA 82)

On February 12, 2018, Stafford J. McQuillin, III, filed a notice of appearance for the Defendants. (ROA 98). Shortly thereafter, the parties agreed to a scheduling order filed on March 2, 2018. (ROA 3)

As the parties were negotiating a settlement, a Consent Rule 40(j) Order was filed on July 30, 2018 (ROA 10). After lack of cooperation by the Defendants to mediate and continue settlement negotiations, the Plaintiffs filed a consent motion to restore on March 27, 2019, and on May 30, 2019, a Form 4 C Order restoring case to the active roster was filed. (ROA 100) (ROA 24)

The Defendants’ counsel, Stafford J. McQuillin, III filed a Consent Motion to Withdraw as Defendants’ Counsel on April 2, 2019. (ROA 101) A Consent Order Granting Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel was filed on April 15, 2019, granting the motion. (ROA 16)

The case was placed back on the trial roster and set for trial on May 26, 2020. The Plaintiffs filed and mailed a Notice of Hearing on April 3, 2020. (ROA 104). However, due to the Covid-19 Pandemic closing of courts and postponement of trials, the matter was continued.

Th Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Strike Answer of Defendant Luxury Land on February 16, 2022, for failure to retain new counsel within sixty (60) days after the court granted its former

counsel, C. Tyson Nettles, Motion to Withdraw filed on April 16, 2019, by the Form 4 C Order filed on May 29, 2019. (ROA 105) (ROA 103) (ROA 21)

A Form 4 C Order was filed with the Court on February 24, 2022, for a trial date certain set for April 11, 2022, and another Form 4 Order was filed on February 25, 2022, serving all parties. (ROA 27) (ROA 30)

Due to the fact that the Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Answer of Defendant Luxury Land was continued for a period of thirty (30) days by way of Form 4 C Order filed March 22, 2022, the trial was continued. (ROA 33)

A Stipulation of Dismissal as to Defendant Luxury Land was filed April 7, 2022. (ROA 36)

The Defendants represented themselves *pro se* at trial on April 11-12, 2022. (ROA 334)

After a two day trial and deliberations, the jury found in favor of the Plaintiffs and a Form 4 C Order was filed May 6, 2022, in the amount of \$196,000.00 in actual damages and attorneys' fees and costs were awarded in the amount of \$21,382.95, bringing the total judgment to \$217,382.95 and a Transcript of Judgment was filed on May 9, 2022. (ROA 38) (ROA 41)

The Transcript of Judgment was filed in both Chesterfield County and Richland County on May 10, 2022. (ROA 43) (ROA 45)

The Defendants filed a Motion to Reconsider and to Set Aside the Judgment on May 31, 2022, and a Motion to Stay on June 8, 2022. (ROA 108) (ROA 117)

The Plaintiffs filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellants' Motion to Stay on June 13, 2022. (ROA 119)

A Form 4 C Order was filed on October 18, 2023, denying both the motions (ROA 47)

The case was then appealed to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on November 17, 2023. (ROA 123).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter comes before the Court after the trial of the case to a jury verdict in May, 2022.
(ROA 334)

The Plaintiffs are citizens and residents of Dorchester County, South Carolina and the current owners of the subject property located at 9 Middleton Oaks, Charleston, South Carolina. (the "Property").

The Defendants, Tina B. Opoulous and her late husband, Alexander Opoulous, III, are the former owners of the Property. A selling agent, Sabrina Leigh Jones, presented a home brochure of the Property to the Plaintiffs that was for sale by the Appellants along with the MLS listing of the Property. (ROA 205) (ROA 203) (ROA 421)

On November 25, 2013, the Plaintiffs entered into an Agreement to Buy and Sell Real Estate (the "Contract") with the Defendants whereby the Plaintiffs agreed to purchase the Property. (ROA 245)

Pursuant to the Contract, the Defendants provided to the Plaintiffs the statutorily required and mandated South Carolina Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement dated July 24, 2013 (ROA 235). In their Disclosure Statement, the Defendants represented that they had no knowledge of any problem, malfunction or defect, or any condition evidencing any problems or defects of any of the following:

- a. water seepage, leakage, dampness of standing water or water intrusion from any source or any area of the structure;
- b. any drainage, grading or stability of soil or retaining structure;
- c. they were not aware of any sump pumps on the property;
- d. that during the Defendants' ownership of the property or within the past five years they had not made any individual repairs in excess of \$500.00 to the garage

slab in the subject residence.

(ROA 235)

On approximately, August 10, 2013, prior to closing on the Property, a Repair Addendum and Amendment to Agreement to Buy and Sell Real Estate was executed by the Plaintiffs and the Defendants due to issues found in an inspection report prepared for the Plaintiffs by Ace Preferred Inspections Summary and Home Inspection Report dated August 9, 2013. (ROA 156) (ROA 240).

At trial, Andrey Gergel, (“Gergel”) testified that

[w]e had inspection, as has been stated., and had some issues. It was home that was built in 1982, so some of the issues we knew right away and was disclosed in the property condition disclosure. Like the roof was 23 years old, so we knew it was old and needed to be replaced. So it was taken into consideration. (Inaudible) wasn’t, you know, anything what – the decision to purchase eh home. So it was nothing alarming, nothing that any limitation would change purchasing the home...

(ROA 402)

Mr. Gergel is originally from Ukraine. (ROA 394)

Nothing was disclosed to the Plaintiffs at that time that would cause them to back out of the sale at that time. (ROA 403)

Another Addendum/Amendment Agreement was executed on August 19, 2013, as the Plaintiffs questioned the representation that the house measured seven thousand square feet measurement. (ROA 243) It was determined the total square footage of the actual house was five thousand five hundred square feet. *Id.* (ROA 403)

The Plaintiffs backed out of the Contract by way of Release of Agreement/Contract dated November 25, 2013, then resigned an Amendment/Contract at a lower price due to the lesser square footage amount on the same date. (ROA 255) (ROA 245)

Mr. Gergel testified that

“...at that time they said we’re going to buy house as-is. That is correct. So we bought the house as-is with a new square footage, but the disclosure of agreement and everything being disclosed in property would stay as-is, so it means no damage, no sump pumps, nothing. So that was states as original contract...”

(ROA 235)

The Plaintiffs believed the false statements in the Disclosure Statement signed by the Defendants to be truth, when in fact, they were not and therefore, signed the Amendment to the Contract executed on November 25, 2013, where they received a credit in the amount of \$5,000.00 for the misrepresentation of square footage. (ROA 235) (ROA 244)

The deeds for the Property conveyed to the Defendants and the conveyance from the Defendants to the Plaintiffs were entered as trial exhibits. (ROA 256)

The Plaintiffs closed on the Property in December 2013, but the Defendants needed additional time to vacate. (ROA 408) The Plaintiffs allowed them additional time to move out and took occupancy on or around approximately the end of January 2014. (ROA 409) It was only after moving into the Property that Plaintiffs discovered problems with the home. *Id.*

Mr. Gergel noted, “And, sometime end of February we start to notice, you know, odor and, you know, different smell then there used to be. So I didn’t know what it was” (ROA 409)

One of his friends recommended Henry Shepherd who then recommended him to CNT Foundations. Christopher Travis Bedson, CEO of CNT Foundation, who specializes in foundation and structural repairs, water intrusion, capsulation and mold remediation, and whose name is incorrectly spelled in the Trial Transcript as Travis Benson, came and inspected the Property. *Id.* (ROA 409)

Mr. Bedson discovered structural problems, water standing under the portion of the house, and sump pumps that the Respondents did not know existed. (ROA 410) At that time, Plaintiffs were replacing the roof on the Property. *Id.* That was their extent of knowledge of the repairs until Mr. Bedson discovered the other problems. *Id.*

Mr. Bedson returned with an employee for further inspection and found ten inches of standing water under a portion of the house. While underneath the house, they discovered two sump pumps that were unplugged from the receptacles and were not pumping water. (Transcript 409)

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. THE APPELLANT IN THIS CASE SEEKS TO PUT FORM OVER SUBSTANCE AND HAVE THIS COURT OVERTURN A WELL-DELIBERATED JURY VERDICT AS RETURNED ON APRIL 12, 2022, IN ST. GEORGE, ENTERED BY THIS COURT ON MAY 6, 2022, BY APPEALING AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE ORIGINAL JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THIS CASE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before this Court on the appeal of Tina B. Opoulous, for herself and her late husband's estate, appealing the Order of the Honorable Maite Murphy dated October 18, 2023, denying her Motion to Reconsider. (ROA 47)

The original judgment in the matter was entered on May 6, 2022. (ROA 38) In that Order, the Court affirmed a jury verdict in favor of the Respondents, Andrey Gergel and Sonja M. Wyatt, (the "Plaintiffs"), in the amount of \$196,000 in actual damages. *Idi*. Attorneys' fees and costs were also awarded in the amount of \$21,382.95 pursuant to the statutory cause of action for failure to disclose on the South Carolian Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement, bringing the total judgment to \$217,382.95. (ROA 235)

This case commenced with the filing of a Summons and Complaint on April 3, 2017. (ROA 50). In their Complaint, the Respondents asserted causes of action for negligent misrepresentation, civil liability pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §27-50-65 and S.C. Code Ann. §27-50-70 for failure to disclose defects on the South Carolian Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement, and fraud and fraud in the inducement. *Id*. The Respondents also sought their attorneys' fees pursuant to those statutory provisions. *Id*. (ROA 235)

The Defendants, Alexander Opoulous and Tina Opoulous, (the "Defendants"), who were residents of the County of Dorchester, in the State of South Carolina, filed an answer on May 3, 2017 (ROA 61).

The Defendant, Sebrina Leigh Jones was dismissed in the matter on April 21, 2017 (ROA 2).

The Defendant, Luxury Land and Homes, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, (the “Defendant Luxury Land”), which filed its answer on January 16, 2018 (ROA 87).

The Plaintiffs’ First Requests to Admit were served on the Appellants on May 11, 2017 and answered by the Appellants on June 6, 2017. (ROA 62) (ROA 82)

On February 12, 2018, Stafford J. McQuillin, III, filed a notice of appearance for the Defendants. (ROA 98). Shortly thereafter, the parties agreed to a scheduling order filed on March 2, 2018. (ROA 3)

As the parties were negotiating a settlement, a Consent Rule 40(j) Order was filed on July 30, 2018 (ROA 10). After lack of cooperation by the Defendants to mediate and continue settlement negotiations, the Plaintiffs filed a consent motion to restore on March 27, 2019, and on May 30, 2019, a Form 4 C Order restoring case to the active roster was filed. (ROA 100) (ROA 24)

The Defendants’ counsel, Stafford J. McQuillin, III filed a Consent Motion to Withdraw as Defendants’ Counsel on April 2, 2019. (ROA 101) A Consent Order Granting Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel was filed on April 15, 2019, granting the motion. (ROA 16)

The case was placed back on the trial roster and set for trial on May 26, 2020. The Plaintiffs filed and mailed a Notice of Hearing on April 3, 2020. (ROA 104). However, due to the Covid-19 Pandemic closing of courts and postponement of trials, the matter was continued.

The Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Strike Answer of Defendant Luxury Land on February 16, 2022, for failure to retain new counsel within sixty (60) days after the court granted its former

counsel, C. Tyson Nettles, Motion to Withdraw filed on April 16, 2019, by the Form 4 C Order filed on May 29, 2019. (ROA 105) (ROA 103) (ROA 21)

A Form 4 C Order was filed with the Court on February 24, 2022, for a trial date certain set for April 11, 2022, and another Form 4 Order was filed on February 25, 2022, serving all parties. (ROA 27) (ROA 30)

Due to the fact that the Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike, Answer of Defendant Luxury Land was continued for a period of thirty (30) days by way of Form 4 C Order filed March 22, 2022, the trial was continued. (ROA 33)

A Stipulation of Dismissal as to Defendant Luxury Land was filed April 7, 2022. (ROA 36)

The Defendants represented themselves *pro se* at trial on April 11-12, 2022. (ROA 334)

After a two day trial and deliberations, the jury found in favor of the Plaintiffs and a Form 4 C Order was filed May 6, 2022, in the amount of \$196,000.00 in actual damages and attorneys' fees and costs were awarded in the amount of \$21,382.95, bringing the total judgment to \$217,382.95 and a Transcript of Judgment was filed on May 9, 2022. (ROA 38) (ROA 41)

The Transcript of Judgment was filed in both Chesterfield County and Richland County on May 10, 2022. (ROA 43) (ROA 45)

The Defendants filed a Motion to Reconsider and to Set Aside the Judgment on May 31, 2022, and a Motion to Stay on June 8, 2022. (ROA 108) (ROA 117)

The Plaintiffs filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellants' Motion to Stay on June 13, 2022. (ROA 119)

A Form 4 C Order was filed on October 18, 2023, denying both the motions (ROA 47)

The case was then appealed to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on November 17, 2023. (ROA 123).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter comes before the Court after the trial of the case to a jury verdict in May, 2022.
(ROA 334)

The Plaintiffs are citizens and residents of Dorchester County, South Carolina and the current owners of the subject property located at 9 Middleton Oaks, Charleston, South Carolina. (the "Property").

The Defendants, Tina B. Opoulous and her late husband, Alexander Opoulous, III, are the former owners of the Property. A selling agent, Sabrina Leigh Jones, presented a home brochure of the Property to the Plaintiffs that was for sale by the Appellants along with the MLS listing of the Property. (ROA 205) (ROA 203) (ROA 421)

On November 25, 2013, the Plaintiffs entered into an Agreement to Buy and Sell Real Estate (the "Contract") with the Defendants whereby the Plaintiffs agreed to purchase the Property. (ROA 245)

Pursuant to the Contract, the Defendants provided to the Plaintiffs the statutorily required and mandated South Carolina Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement dated July 24, 2013. (ROA 235) In their Disclosure Statement, the Defendants represented that they had no knowledge of any problem, malfunction or defect, or any condition evidencing any problems or defects of any of the following:

- a. water seepage, leakage, dampness of standing water or water intrusion from any source or any area of the structure;
- b. any drainage, grading or stability of soil or retaining structure;
- c. they were not aware of any sump pumps on the property;
- d. that during the Defendants' ownership of the property or within the past five years they had not made any individual repairs in excess of \$500.00 to the garage

slab in the subject residence.

(ROA 235)

On approximately, August 10, 2013, prior to closing on the Property, a Repair Addendum and Amendment to Agreement to Buy and Sell Real Estate was executed by the Plaintiffs and the Defendants due to issues found in an inspection report prepared for the Plaintiffs by Ace Preferred Inspections Summary and Home Inspection Report dated August 9, 2013. (ROA 156) (ROA 240).

At trial, Andrey Gergel, (“Gergel”) testified that

[w]e had inspection, as has been stated., and had some issues. It was home that was built in 1982, so some of the issues we knew right away and was disclosed in the property condition disclosure. Like the roof was 23 years old, so we knew it was old and needed to be replaced. So it was taken into consideration. (Inaudible) wasn’t, you know, anything what – the decision to purchase eh home. So it was nothing alarming, nothing that any limitation would change purchasing the home...

(ROA 402)

Mr. Gergel is originally from Ukraine. (ROA 394)

Nothing was disclosed to the Plaintiffs at that time that would cause them to back out of the sale at that time. (ROA 403)

Another Addendum/Amendment Agreement was executed on August 19, 2013, as the Plaintiffs questioned the representation that the house measured seven thousand square feet measurement. (ROA 243) It was determined the total square footage of the actual house was five thousand five hundred square feet. *Id.* (ROA 403)

The Plaintiffs backed out of the Contract by way of Release of Agreement/Contract dated November 25, 2013, then resigned an Amendment/Contract at a lower price due to the lesser square footage amount on the same date. (ROA 255) (ROA 245)

Mr. Gergel testified that

“...at that time they said we’re going to buy house as-is. That is correct. So we bought the house as-is with a new square footage, but the disclosure of agreement and everything being disclosed in property would stay as-is, so it means no damage, no sump pumps, nothing. So that was states as original contract...”

(ROA 235) (ROA 405)

The Plaintiffs believed the false statements in the Disclosure Statement signed by the Defendants to be truth, when in fact, they were not and therefore, signed the Amendment to the Contract executed on November 25, 2013, where they received a credit in the amount of \$5,000.00 for the misrepresentation of square footage. (ROA 235) (ROA 244)

The deeds for the Property conveyed to the Defendants and the conveyance from the Defendants to the Plaintiffs were entered as trial exhibits. (ROA 256)

The Plaintiffs closed on the Property in December 2013, but the Defendants needed additional time to vacate. (ROA 408) The Plaintiffs allowed them additional time to move out and took occupancy on or around approximately the end of January 2014. (ROA 409) It was only after moving into the Property that Plaintiffs discovered problems with the home. *Id.*

Mr. Gergel noted, “And, sometime end of February we start to notice, you know, odor and, you know, different smell then there used to be. So I didn’t know what it was” (ROA 409)

One of his friends recommended Henry Shepherd who then recommended him to CNT Foundations. Christopher Travis Bedson, CEO of CNT Foundation, who specializes in foundation and structural repairs, water intrusion, capsulation and mold remediation, and whose name is incorrectly spelled in the Trial Transcript as Travis Benson, came and inspected the Property. *Id.* (ROA 409)

Mr. Bedson discovered structural problems, water standing under the portion of the house, and sump pumps that the Respondents did not know existed. (ROA 410) At that time, Plaintiffs were replacing the roof on the Property. *Id.* That was their extent of knowledge of the repairs until Mr. Bedson discovered the other problems. *Id.*

Mr. Bedson returned with an employee for further inspection and found ten inches of standing water under a portion of the house. While underneath the house, they discovered two sump pumps that were unplugged from the receptacles and were not pumping water. (Transcript 409)

Shortly after the inspection, the Plaintiffs experienced the washing away of their driveway and deterioration of soil near their carport, causing holes to appear. (ROA 410) For three months, the Plaintiffs were concerned about parking in the carport due to fears of its structural integrity. (Transcript, p. 98) None of this had been properly disclosed to the Defendants by the Plaintiffs.

Right around this time, a neighbor informed the Plaintiffs that there had been times during large rain events where the whole driveway was washed out completely, so that the Defendants could not even get in the house. (ROA 411) According to the neighbor, the Defendants had to bring in dump trucks with dirt to fix what was an ongoing issue with the washing away of the driveway (ROA 411)

The Plaintiffs paid \$1,100,000.00 for the Property and paid CNT Foundation \$79,659.00 as a result of damages to it. (ROA 266-269)

The Plaintiffs also had to hire a surveyor to locate all of the underground water and to determine the location of a creek of running water through the house. (ROA 412).

The Plaintiffs also paid for landscaping work that was completed in two phases for \$5,000 and an additional \$19,149.00 plus prior to the landscaping they had to remove several large trees, dig an eleven (11) feet deep barrier and put in a moisture protector, for an additional, \$3,000.00. According to Mr. Gergel, he and his wife spent approximately \$206,803.00 in repairs for the damages to the Property. (ROA 266-269) (ROA 412)

According to Mr. Gergel, the Plaintiffs would never have purchased the Property had they known about prior flooding and prior water issues. (ROA 414) The statements made about the Property's condition were false and Plaintiffs relied on those statements when deciding to purchase the Property. (ROA 415) They had no way of knowing the statements were false until after moving in to the Property. *Id.*

At the trial, Christopher Travis Bedson, CEO of CNT Foundation, who specializes in foundation and structural repairs, water intrusion, capsulation and mold remediation, and whose name is incorrectly spelled in the Trial Transcript, testified that he was hired by the

Respondents to address the Property to evaluate the need of his problems and if it was something we could solve for him.” (ROA 356) The Court qualified Mr. Bedson as an expert witness without objection. (ROA 386).

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